1970

Darren J. Pollick, By and Through His Guardian Ad Litem, John R. Pollick, and John R. Pollick v. J. C. Penney Company : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for personal injuries to Darren J. Pollick, resulting from a fall over a bannister surrounding a stairwell in the J. C. Penney Store located at 4849 South State Street, Murray, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow, sitting with a jury. From a verdict and judgment for the plaintiff, defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment and judgment in its favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of May 5, 1964, John R. Pollick went to the J. C. Penney store at 4849 South State Street, Murray, Utah to purchase a Mother's Day gift (R. 122). He took his three-year-old son, Darren Pollick, with him to the store (R. 123). Mr. Pollick had been in the store a number of prior occasions (R. 133). He had taken his son shopping with him before (R. 123). Mr. Pollick knew there were stairs from the main floor to the basement floor (R. 134).

Mr. Pollick shopped for five or ten minutes before he found a dress he wanted to buy (R. 125). Mr. Pollick had Darren "in hand" most of the time while he was shopping (R. 125). The saleslady proceeded to write up the charge ticket and put the dress in a box (R. 126). While Mr. Pollick was checking the sales slip and signing it, Darren walked away from him (R. 126). The next thing Mr. Pollick heard was crying, screaming and commotion coming from the center of the store (R. 127). Mr. Pollick walked toward the stair casing and saw Mr. Barlocker, a Penney employee, carrying Darren up the stairs (R. 128). Although no one saw Darren fall, it is assumed that he climbed over the bannister surrounding the stairwell and fell eleven feet to a display table on the basement floor (R. 129, 152). Darren suffered a broken leg from the fall (R. 114).

The evidence presented in the lower court indicates the bannister over which Darren fell was a fraction under 36 inches in height (R. 154) and had a mop board around the bottom that was 7½ inches high and ¾ inch wide at its

top (R. 154). At the time of the accident the boy was shorter in height than the waist of his 5 foot 8 inch father (R. 139).

A Mr. Lloyd M. Dalton, building inspector for Murray City, testified that the City had adopted the Uniform Building Code. *He testified the code required the bannister around the stairs in the Penney store should be 36 inches in height* (R. 173). *This testimony was uncontroverted. He also testified there was nothing in the building code regarding mop boards* (R. 176). The defendant attempted to introduce evidence from Mr. Barlocker that from 1961 to 1964, while he worked in the store, no one had fallen over the bannister (R. 155). The court sustained plaintiff's objection to the evidence (R. 160).

At the conclusion of the plaintiff's case, the defendant moved the court for a directed verdict (R. 157). The court denied the motion (R. 169). The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against defendant awarding special damages of \$821.36 and general damages of \$2500.

A R G U M E N T

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT.

During the course of the trial the defendant moved for a directed verdict on the ground that the plaintiff had produced no competent evidence from which the jury could find any negligence on behalf of the defendant, and that the evidence taken in a light most favorable to the plaintiff showed that the plaintiff's minor son walked away from his father while he was making a purchase, climbed over a bannister and fell to the basement below (R. 157). The court denied the defendant's motion (R. 160).

Appellant contends that its motion for a directed verdict should have been granted.

There is absolutely no evidence in the record that would indicate that the appellant was negligent in any manner whatsoever. There was no evidence to show that the bannister was negligently designed or constructed. There was no evidence from which the jury could find the mop board was improperly constructed. The evidence clearly indicates that the bannister was within a fraction of an inch of being 3 feet in height as required by the building code (R. 154). Since there was no evidence relating to the design or construction of mop boards, it must be presumed that they were constructed properly. *The burden of proof was on the plaintiff to prove the defendant's negligence. A finding of negligence cannot be based on speculation or conjecture.*

See *Alvarado v. Tucker*, 2 Utah 2d 16, 268 P. 2d 986 (1954) where this court held:

*"The burden was upon plaintiff to prove the charge of speeding; such a finding of fact could not be based on mere speculation or conjecture, but only on a preponderance of the evidence. This means the greater weight of the evidence, or as sometimes stated, such degree of proof that the greater probability of truth lies therein. A choice of probabilities does not meet this requirement. It creates only a basis for conjecture, on which a verdict of the jury cannot stand. * * *" (Emphasis added)*

It is elementary that before a person can recover from another for injuries suffered, the one from whom the damages are sought must be shown to have been negligent and further such negligence must be shown to have been the cause of the injury.

In *Mortensen v. First Security Bank of Utah*, 12 Utah

2d 89, 363 P.2d 75 (1961), the plaintiff had the tip of her thumb cut off while making a deposit in the bank's night depository. The jury found for the plaintiff, but the court granted defendant's motion for judgment N.O.V. In upholding the ruling of the trial court judge, Justice Crockett stated:

"It is not doubted that the plaintiff injured her thumb, nor that it was both painful and unfortunate. But that provides no basis for making another pay for it. It is so elementary as to hardly require exposition that this can be done only if the defendant was at fault in causing the injury. *Before plaintiff could recover she had the burden of showing that the defendant was guilty of negligence: that is, that by some act or omission it failed in its duty to use reasonable care for the safety of persons in plaintiff's situation and thereby exposed them to an unreasonable risk of harm.*" *Mortensen* at 77. (Emphasis added)

This court has held that a verdict cannot stand unless it is supported by the evidence. In *Larson v. Evans*, 12 Utah 2d 245, 364 P.2d 1088 (1961), plaintiff brought suit for injuries suffered in an automobile accident. At the trial the judge instructed the jury that the defendant was negligent as a matter of law for running a stop sign. The jury was then instructed that they might find that the plaintiffs were contributorily negligent. The plaintiff appealed from a jury verdict of no cause of action and the denial of a motion for a new trial.

This court held there was insufficient evidence to sustain a finding of contributory negligence and reversed the lower court judgment.

Generally speaking appellate courts are reluctant to overturn jury verdicts. However, under certain circumstances, such verdicts will be overturned.

"The rule that a verdict will not be disturbed where the evidence tends to support it does not embrace a case where a verdict has been rendered in favor of plaintiff in an action and the record shows an entire absence of evidence supporting, or tending to support, some material and indispensable fact necessary to be proved by him to justify the rendition of a verdict in his favor.

"Further it has been held that, where the verdict is manifestly against the evidence, the judgment will be reversed notwithstanding the trial court had refused to set aside the verdict. So also the verdict or findings will not be permitted to stand where they are directly contradictory of, or irreconcilable with, the evidence or rest only on speculation and conjecture; or where the verdict is unsupported by the evidence; and a similar rule applies where the verdict is not supported or sustained by substantial evidence, or by any evidence, or is not sustained by any reasonable hypothesis based on the facts proved; or where the evidence is clearly insufficient as a matter of law." 5A C.J.S. Appeal & Error, Sec. 1647 (1958) (Emphasis added).

The uncontroverted evidence shows that the bannister was constructed in accordance with the Uniform Building Code.

The defendant called as a witness Mr. Lloyd M. Dalton, who is a building inspector for Murray City (R. 170). Mr. Dalton testified that the building code required bannisters of the type found in the appellant's store to be 36 inches in height (R. 174). He further testified that there is nothing in the code with regard to mop boards (R. 176). From Mr. Dalton's testimony it was clear that Penney's had complied in every respect with the building code.

The plaintiff did not produce one shred of evidence to contradict or impeach this evidence.

This court has consistently held that findings *against* uncontroverted and unimpeached evidence will be set aside. In *Parker v. Weber County Irr. Dist.*, 68 Utah 472, 251 P. 11 (1926), plaintiff sought to recover from the defendant irrigation district on a written contract. The lower court rendered judgment for plaintiff, notwithstanding testimony by three witnesses to the effect that plaintiff knew and agreed that his contract should not commence until defendant district obtained a loan. The loan was never obtained.

This court reversed the trial court finding for the plaintiff, and noted, with regard to the uncontroverted testimony of the witnesses:

“The witnesses were not impeached nor their testimony in any particular discredited or contradicted or impaired. The court thus was not at liberty to disregard it and make a finding contrary thereto, which in effect was done by finding that there was no such agreement or understanding as testified to by the witnesses. In other words, the district by undisputed evidence proved what this court on the first appeal said was a complete defense to plaintiff’s cause, but the court by its finding disregarded such evidence and found contrary thereto; and hence it follows that the finding must be set aside and the judgment based upon it vacated.” *Parker* at 13.

In the case of *American Scale Mfg. Co. v. Zee*, 120 Utah 402, 235 P.2d 361 (1951), this court adopted the rule from another court:

“The general rule as to the effect of positive uncontradicted evidence is found in *National Bank of Commerce of N. Y. v. Bottolfson*, 55 S.D. 196, 225 N.W. 385, 386, 69 A.L.R. 892, wherein the court said: “*Where the testimony of a witness is uncontradicted and not inherently improbable, and there are no circumstances tending to raise a doubt of its truth, the*

facts so proven should be taken as conclusively established and verdict directed or decision entered accordingly." *American Scale* at 364. (Emphasis added)

The testimony of Lloyd M. Dalton was uncontroverted. The plaintiff not only failed to show that the bannister did not comply with the building code, but also introduced no testimony that would even imply that the bannister was negligently designed or constructed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING INDIRECTLY INTO EVIDENCE THE FACT THAT DEFENDANT MADE REPAIRS TO THE BANNISTER SUBSEQUENT TO THE ACCIDENT.

In March of 1966, two years after the accident, the defendant installed a wrought-iron addition to the bannister over which Darren fell. The addition increased the height of the bannister by approximately 17 inches (R. 168). Before the trial began, counsel and the court agreed that evidence of such repairs was inadmissible (R. 168). However, during the cross-examination of Mr. Dennis Barlocker the plaintiff's attorney asked several times whether or not an extension could have been added to the bannister to prevent people from falling over it (R. 166). Defendant made a timely objection to this testimony (R. 170).

The defendant contends that by allowing plaintiff to ask such questions, it put into evidence indirectly the fact that the defendant had put an extension on the bannister. Such questions were highly prejudicial and deprived the defendant of a fair trial. These questions accomplished indirectly the very thing that plaintiff's counsel admitted was contrary to law (R. 169).

The rule of admissibility as to repairs that is followed

in the great majority of jurisdictions including Utah is well stated in Rule 51 of the Uniform Rules of Evidence.

When after the occurrence of an event remedial or precautionary measures are taken, which, if taken previously would have tended to make the event less likely to occur, evidence of such subsequent measures is not admissible to prove negligence or culpable conduct in connection with the event.

There are two persuasive reasons for this rule of evidence. One is that because repairs are made, it does *not* follow that the condition was defective at the time of the accident. The other reason is that if such evidence were admitted, it would have a tendency to cause employers to omit making needed repairs for fear that the precaution thus taken by them could be used as evidence against them.

This court followed the general rule in the case of *Potter v. Dr. W. H. Groves Latter-day Saints Hospital*, 99 Utah 71, 103 P.2d 280 (1940). Here suit was brought for the death of a hospital patient after she had fallen from her bed. The plaintiff alleged that the hospital was negligent in not having sideboards on the patient's bed. This court held that the trial court should have granted defendant's motion for a directed verdict because the evidence in the record failed to show negligence on the part of the defendant.

After the accident sideboards were placed on the patient's bed. Plaintiffs asserted that due care required the hospital to use sideboards before the fall. To this contention the court stated:

"Evidence of alterations or repairs to premises under his control made following an accident therein is inadmissible to show as against a defendant that the former condition was unsafe or was being negligently maintained." *Potter* at 282.

See also *Christensen v. Utah Rapid Transit Co.*, 83 Utah 231, 27 P.2d 468 (1933), where this court said:

“It is the general rule that where a dangerous or defective appliance is alleged to have resulted in an injury for which damages are sought to be recovered, *evidence that subsequent to the accident changes or repairs thereof or thereto were made is inadmissible to show antecedent negligence or as an admission of negligence on the particular occasion in question*, although such evidence may be admissible for other purposes.” *Christensen* at 474. (Emphasis added)

While it is true that plaintiff did not specifically ask defendant's floor manager whether repairs had been made subsequent to the accident, the questions that were asked of Mr. Barlocker were equally prejudicial and produced the same effect. Mr. Barlocker was asked three times by the plaintiff whether or not an extension could have been added to the bannister (R. 165, 166). The plaintiff made reference in his questions to the very type of extension that had in fact been added to the bannister.

The questioning that took place on the part of the plaintiff was designed to introduce into evidence indirectly that which could not be introduced in Utah by direct evidence. Such a tactic violates public policy in that it has the effect of discouraging a defendant from repairing or altering a condition that may cause another accident whether the defendant was guilty of negligence in the first instance or not.

In *Northwest Airlines v. Glenn L. Martin Co.*, 224 F. 2d 120 (6th Cir., 1955), the airline brought action against the aircraft manufacturer for alleged negligence in design and manufacture of airplanes. In the trial court the plaintiff attempted to introduce evidence as to modifications that defendant had made in the wing joint after the damage was discovered. The evidence was introduced to show

how the wing should have been designed in the first place. The evidence was not admitted, and the Circuit Court upheld the lower court. The appellate court held that the result of admitting the evidence would have been to provide a basis for inferring what should have been done. The court said:

“This kind of hindsight evidence is not properly admissible upon the issue of ordinary care.” *Northwest* at 130.

In the case of *Triplett v. Napier*, 286 S.W.2d 87 (Ky. 1955), the plaintiff was injured in a fall on defendant's allegedly defective stairway. During depositions the plaintiff asked concerning subsequent repairs. Proper objections were made to these questions and answers which were sustained by the trial court. However, notwithstanding these objections, plaintiff on two separate occasions on cross-examination questioned witnesses on repairs. Both times objections were made and sustained. The appellate court said that such questions were:

“* * * calculated to elicit answers from which the jury could learn, or infer, that such repairs had been made.”

In ruling that such questions were prejudicial, the court stated:

“Such conduct with resulting argument is the evil sought to be avoided by the general rule, as is pointed out in the *Kentucky & West Virginia Power Co. v. Stacy* case. The continued and persistent efforts of appellee's counsel to bring the matter of the repairs to the attention of the jury after adverse rulings must be considered as prejudicial.” *Triplett* at 89-90.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING OBJECTIONS TO DEFENDANT'S PROFFERED EVIDENCE.

During the direct examination of Mr. Dennis Barlocker, defendant asked the witness,

"During the time that you have worked at the store, did work at the store, from 1961 up until the time of the accident, to your knowledge had there been any children or other people that had fallen over that stairs?" (R. 155)

Before the witness could answer, the plaintiff objected to the question as immaterial. Defendant then argued the point both in court and in chambers citing to the court the case of *Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, 120 Utah 31, 232 P.2d 210 (1951) (R. 155). After hearing argument the court sustained plaintiff's objection (R. 160).

Defendant respectfully submits that the ruling of the trial court was prejudicial error.

Defendant should have been allowed to introduce evidence of the absence of prior accidents for two critical, independent reasons. In the first place such testimony would be evidence that the bannister was not a dangerous fixture in defendant's store, and, in the second place, the testimony, if allowed, would have shown that the defendant had no notice of the allegedly dangerous condition. Such testimony was critical to the defendant's case, and under Utah law should clearly have been admitted.

In the case of *Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, *supra*, the plaintiff sued the drug store for injuries suffered in a fall on a wet terrazzo floor in the entrance of the store. During the course of the trial the defendant attempted to

introduce evidence that approximately 4,000 to 5,000 persons entered the drug store every day during the fifteen years prior to the accident and during that period of time the defendant had never received a single complaint or report about anyone slipping on the terrazzo slab. The trial court excluded the testimony. This court held that such exclusion was error. In so holding the court said:

“Evidence of the absence of accidents occurring prior to the accident complained of may not be admissible to establish that an unsafe condition did not exist at the time of the accident in question. That matter we need not decide here. *But such evidence is clearly admissible to prove that a possessor of land had no knowledge nor could he be charged with knowledge that unsafe condition existed, particularly when the unsafe condition complained of is latent.* In the instant case the appellant can only be liable if the terrazzo floor when wet subjected business visitors to an unreasonable risk and the appellant either knew or by the exercise of reasonable care could have discovered that such a condition existed. Evidence that thousands of business visitors had walked through the entranceway in all kinds of weather and that none of them had ever complained to the appellant of slipping on the terrazzo slab, while not conclusive on the question, as heretofore pointed out, does have probative value upon the question whether the appellant knew or should have known of the existence of an unreasonable risk to customers entering and leaving the store.” *Erickson* at 214. (Emphasis added)

The fact that there were no prior accidents involving the stairs or bannister was a circumstance that should have been considered by the jury in determining whether the bannister was dangerous and whether the defendant had any notice of a dangerous condition.

The facts of the instant case and the *Erickson* case are very similar. In each case the defendant was a retail store

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