1970

Darren J. Pollick, By and Through His Guardian Ad Litem, John R. Pollick, and John R. Pollick v. J. C. Penney Company : Brief of Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as they appeared in
the lower Court.

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a negligence action to recover damages for
personal injuries suffered by Darren J. Pollick, a

minor, as a result of falling over a banister in defendant's store, located at 4849 South State Street, Murray, Utah.

DISPOSITION OF LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury which returned a verdict in favor of the minor for damages in the sum of \$2,500.00 and awarded the sum of \$821.36 to the father for medical expenses.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the jury verdict and granting either a judgment as a matter of law or a new trial. Plaintiff contends the verdict rendered by the jury should be sustained.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts contained in the defendant's brief is generally accurate. However, the plaintiffs feel that the following amplification would be helpful in order for this Court to determine the issues presented in this case. It is, of course, the position of the plaintiffs herein that in determining the arguments set forth by the defendant that the facts must be construed most favorable to the plaintiffs for the reason that there is a jury verdict in this case. This is particularly true in regard to Point I of Defendant's Brief. The facts are these:

The plaintiff, John R. Pollick, accompanied by his three year old son on May 5, 1964, went to defendant's store at 4849 South State Street, Murray, Utah, to purchase a Mother's Day gift (R. 122-123). The plaintiff went to the Ladies' Department, which is located on the main floor of the store. Directly opposite the department and in the center of the main floor is a stairwell which leads to the basement. Surrounding three sides of the stairwell is a wooden banister. The banister is approximately 36 inches high and attached to the base and extending around the banister is a mopboard 7½ inches high and ¾ of an inch wide. The child, Darren Pollick, testified that he climbed the banister in question, that is, the mopboard allowed him to stand on the same and he so remembered this before his injury.

Mr. Pollick selected a dress and while standing at the cash register to complete the sale, he heard a scream and went to the stairway where he saw his boy in the arms of the manager of the store. The manager advised plaintiff his boy had fallen over the banister and landed on a display rack approximately eleven feet below in the basement. The boy suffered a broken leg as a result of the accident.

Plaintiffs filed this case to recover damages for the injuries sustained by the minor child and for medical expenses. Plaintiffs proceeded upon the theory they were business invitees and defendant neglected to exercise due care to make the premises reasonably safe for

them by maintaining the aforementioned banister in a dangerous and unsafe condition.

It should be pointed out at this juncture that the plaintiff's theory was simply that the defendant, in allowing a climbable mopboard to be attached to the wooden banister, was negligent under the circumstances in that the store knew and, in fact, encouraged children of tender years to be present on its premises. The defendant throughout its brief seems to indicate that it was the position of the plaintiff that there was some negligence in the construction of the banister but the defendant in stating the plaintiff's position has created a strawman. The fact of the matter is that the plaintiff's theory proceeded on the fact that the defendant, under the circumstances, maintained a dangerous and unsafe condition for children of tender years.

Darren clearly testified that immediately prior to the fall he was standing on top of the mopboard and then he fell (R. 110).

The manager of the store, Mr. Dennis Barlocker, testified as follows:

(R. 161, 162)

“Q. Now, it's a matter of fact isn't it, Mr. Barlocker, that J. C. Penney's as a department store, prides itself in family, or having families come and shop there, isn't that right?

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. And while you were there for three and

a half years, you saw a lot of little children in that place, haven't you?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. And in fact it's a common practice for people to come with small children, isn't that right?

"A. Yes.

"Q. And, of course, you've known that all along and while you were there at the Murray office that's—you've known that, haven't you?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. And it's not uncommon for small children to be in and about the store?

"A. No, sir.

"Q. Now, I guess, also, one of your particular duties, isn't it Mr. Barlocker, is to make sure that this place is safe for the patrons when they come in there, isn't that right?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. And, now you were familiar were you not with this particular banister that borders this said well?

"A. Very familiar with it.

"Q. And this particular bannister, I guess, it also had a little bit of a beauty sign to it, is that right?

"MR. NEBEKER: Little what?

"MR. DIBBLEE: Was it there for beauty? Was it there for beauty?

"A. No, not necessarily.

“Q. So, therefore, then it was just for the purpose of having this handrail that the people use, is that correct?”

“A. Well, it was built to keep people from falling in.

“Q. Falling down the stairs? The stairs this way, is that correct?”

“A. Yes, definitely.

* * * *

“Q. Now with respect to this particular bannister, Mr. Barlocker, it would have been practical and would have been possible would it not, sir, to put a little extension along the top of this railing here to raise it a little higher, to make it higher, you could do that couldn't you?”

“A. I'm sure it could be done. I am no contractor but I'm sure it could be done.

“Q. Well, as a practical matter it could have been done, couldn't it, just put some sort of extension on, like this, so that it would make this higher and rather than being thirty-six inches from the floor, could have been higher, couldn't it?”

“A. Yes.

“Q. And as a matter of fact this particular mop board, here, for all practical purposes could have been removed, could it not, sir?”

“A. Definitely.

“Q. And, then, if that particular mop board had been removed, then small children that were in the area would not be able to climb up on this bannister, would they, sir?”

* * * *

“A. Would you restate your question?”

“Q. (By Mr. Dibblee) I say, if the mop board would have been removed, then, little children that had been walking around wouldn't be able to put their foot up on there, would they?”

“A. No, they wouldn't be able to put their foot up there.

“Q. And isn't it also true, Mr. Barlocker, that if J. C. Penney Company had put an extension up on this particular area on the top of this railing and extended it higher it could have been done with all practicality, it could prevent people from falling over the bannister, wouldn't it?”

“A. Yes, sir.

“Q. And in fact it would have prevented exactly the accident that happened in this case, wouldn't it?”

“A. Yes, sir.”

Based on this evidence the trial court presented the case to the jury. The jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiffs, which verdict should be sustained by this Honorable Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE DOES SUPPORT A FINDING THE DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT.

Throughout defendant's argument and Point I in particular, reference is made to the fact that Murray

City has adopted a Building Code that stated that banisters should be of a certain height. The defendant feels and argues most vigorously that this fact relieves him from any responsibility. In this connection it is interesting to note the theory that he requested be presented to the jury in Instruction No. 15. That instruction was as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 15

You are instructed that the Uniform Building Code contains the following requirements with regard to guardrails:

“Guardrails. All unenclosed floor openings, and open and glazed sides of landings and stairs shall be protected by a guardrail or handrail. Guardrails shall be not less than thirty-six inches (36”) in height. Intermediate members in open type railings shall be spaced not more than nine inches (9”) apart.” Uniform Building Code, 64 Edition, Vol. I, Sec. 3305.

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the bannister in the defendant’s store at Murray, Utah was not less than 36” in height, then I instruct you that the construction and maintenance of the banister would be in compliance with the Uniform Building Code.

It can be seen that this instruction is simply a statement of fact and did not help the jury in determining whether or not the particular circumstances the defendant was or was not negligent in the maintaining

of its premises. The trial court refused to give the instruction. The instruction, to be proper, should have stated, in conformity with well-recognized law, that compliance with the Building Code is some evidence of whether or not there was a breach of duty. As mentioned earlier, the defendant did not articulate this view and now seems to insist that the mere fact of compliance with a Building Code as to the height of a banister (not taking into consideration the fact that the mop-board was climbable) relieves it from any and all obligation. This argument, it is respectfully suggested, is patently erroneous.

The plaintiffs' theory of negligence was set forth in Instructions No. 17 and 18. The trial court gave forth the following instructions and the same, we think, set forth the proper law that the jury should consider under the circumstances of this case. This was the theory of the plaintiffs.

“INSTRUCTION NO. 17

“You are instructed that business establishments catering to the general public owe a duty to maintain the premises in a reasonably safe condition and in such a manner as not to involve an unreasonable risk of harm to persons who might be reasonably anticipated to be in and about said business establishments.

“In this connection you are instructed that if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the manner in which the defendant maintained the banister bordering the stairway leading

from the Main Floor to the Basement constituted a condition that was not reasonably safe and that in allowing said condition to exist defendant failed to exercise the degree of care above described, then, and in that event, defendant was negligent, and if you further find that such negligence, if any, was a proximate cause of injuries to the minor children, then you should find the issues in favor of plaintiff and against defendant and assess damages in accordance with these instructions.”

“INSTRUCTION NO. 18

“You are instructed that business establishments catering to the general public owe a duty to maintain the premises in a reasonably safe condition and in such a manner as not to involve an unreasonable risk of harm to persons who might be reasonably anticipated to be in and about said business establishments.

“In this connection you are instructed that if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant maintained a banister bordering the stairway leading from the Main Floor to the Basement at a height that a child of tender years might climb and the defendant could, with reasonable practicality, have placed upon the top of the banister an addition which would have prevented children who may have climbed on the banister from falling over and down to the floor below, and if you further find from a preponderance of the evidence that the failure to so construct the said addition constituted a failure to exercise the degree of care above described, then, and in that event, defendant was negligent, and if you further find that such negligence, if

any, was a proximate cause of the injuries to the minor child, then you should find the issues in favor of plaintiffs and against defendant and assess damages in accordance with these instructions.”

There is in the defendant's brief no objection to this theory nor any exception to these instructions. The instructions were defining the standard of care to a business invitee of the defendant in this case, that is, *that it has a duty to maintain the premises in a reasonably safe condition*. The duty, certainly in these instances, is much more broad than that which is claimed by the defendant in smugly stating that the banister met certain height requirements of a Building Code. A case that sets forth the plaintiffs' theory in this case is *Thacker v. J. C. Penney Company* (5th CCA) 254 F. 2d 672, in which a two year, two month old child fell over a 36 inch high railing along the second floor of the store. It was admitted, as in this case, that it was reasonable to foresee that children would be in and about said railing. The trial court granted a motion for summary judgment on the grounds there was no breach of duty and no negligence shown. In reversing the trial court stated the following:

“What is the scope of the duty here? A storeowner is not an insurer of an invitee's safety, but he is under the affirmative duty of exercising due care under all circumstances. The Restatement speaks of the liability of a landowner to business visitors ‘to exercise reasonable care to make the land safe for [their] reception’. Re-

statement, Torts, Section 343. Harper and James state: 'The occupier must use due care not to injure the plaintiff by negligent activity and also to warn him of latent perils actually known to the occupier. In addition, the occupier owes the duty to inspect his premises and to discover dangerous conditions * * * [as] part of a larger duty of reasonable care to make the premises reasonably safe.' 2 Harper and James, Law of Torts, Section 27.12, p. 1487.

"A storeowner is under a duty to use due care to make the premises safe for all invitees—for a young child as well as for an adult. He owes the same degree of care to both, but, of course, different precautions must be taken for children, if the storeowner's conduct is to measure up to the standard of due care under all the circumstances. 'The proprietor of a store or shop who invites or induces children to come upon the premises must use care to keep the premises reasonably safe for children. Account is taken, in determining the precautions necessary to be exercised, of childish impulses as well as the fact that certain dangerous conditions in the store or shop may attract small children to their injury.' 38 American Jurisprudence 799, Negligence, Section 177. Age and the ability of a child to realize danger, the peculiar attraction certain installations have for children, childish impulses, the knowledge that young children frequently in the past had been attracted to an installation are all circumstances to be taken into account in determining whether a storeowner has complied with his duty of care to an invitee who is a child. If J. C. Penney, through its employees, had knowledge that children frequently played on the balcony and were attracted to climbing

the balcony railing, and if there was a foreseeable probability of injury by children climbing the railing and falling, defendant was under a duty to avoid the danger by taking precautions to make the premises reasonably safe. Further, even without the actual knowledge of the peril to children generally or to Jada particularly, defendant was 'under an affirmative duty to protect invitees against [dangers] which with reasonable care * * * might [be] discover[ed]'. Prosser, Law of Torts, Sec. 78, p. 453. If therefore the construction of the railing was such that a reasonable person might expect young children on the balcony to be attracted to climbing the railing, defendant was under the duty to use due care to discover this danger and to protect its invitees against the peril.

“Whether J. C. Penney Company breached its duty to use due care to make its store reasonably safe for young invitees is the basic issue in this case. We believe that there was a sufficient showing of a breach of duty for the issue to be decided by a jury.”

Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the facts in the above quoted case are similar to this case. In the case at bar the record was clear defendant knew that children of the tender age of plaintiff would be in its store and near the banister. In spite of this knowledge defendant permitted the banister to remain unguarded and with a climbable mopboard that permitted children to do what was done in this case. Again it is repeated that the evidence clearly shows defendant completely failed to take any precautionary measure to protect small children that were in the store.

As mentioned at the onset in this case, the assumption defendant makes that compliance with a building code, *ipso facto*, relieves it of any further liability, is contrary to the law.

In Wigmore on Evidence, Vol. 2, Sec. 461, at page 489, the author compares the effect of a statute or ordinance with evidence of custom and habit and states as follows:

“This conduct of others, then, (1) is receivable as some evidence of the nature of the thing in question, because it indicates what is the influence of the thing on the ordinary person in that situation; but (2) it is not to be taken as fixing a legal standard for the conduct required by law.

* * * *

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